
 

 

 

 

September 14, 2015 

The Honorable John Thune 

Chairman 

U.S. Senate Committee on Commerce, Science & Transportation 

Washington, D.C. 20510-6125 

 

Dear Chairman Thune: 

You requested the Virginia Railway Express (VRE) provide information on issues and challenges 

that could arise if Congress fails to modify the December 31, 2015 deadline for implementation of 

Positive Train Control (PTC), and any actions that could be taken because of these issues and 

challenges.  If Congress does not extend the deadline, the Northern Virginia and Potomac and 

Rappahannock Transportation Commissions, who together own and operate the VRE service, are 

likely to cease commuter rail operations.  While VRE has done everything it can do on its own and 

has fully funded the capital costs of $10.5M by prioritizing this project, PTC cannot be certified 

as operable in the VRE territory by the December deadline.  We have begun the process of 

installing the on-board equipment on all locomotives and cab cars.  Installation of the onboard 

equipment should be substantially completed by year-end, but equipment and software must be 

tested and certified with CSX Transportation (CSX) and Norfolk Southern Railway (NSR), the 

owners of the right of way on which VRE operates, after their systems are installed. A timeline for 

final PTC implementation on VRE will be updated after installation and testing of CSX’s and 

NSR’s systems has been completed.  

There are two primary issues the Transportation Commissions must evaluate in determining 

whether to cease VRE operations after the PTC deadline.  First, VRE would be unable to comply 

with the federal statutory mandate for implementation of a PTC system by December 31, 2015.  

Moreover, VRE would not be able to comply with Federal Railroad Administration (FRA) 

regulations requiring PTC systems found at 49 CFR §§ 236.1001 et seq. thus exposing VRE to the 

substantial civil penalties in Appendix A to Part 236.  In addition, VRE may be out of compliance 

with FRA rules implementing the Rail Safety Improvement Act of 2008 (RSIA) found at 49 CFR 

Parts 229 and 238, concerning railroad locomotive safety standards and passenger equipment 

safety standards.  This exposes VRE and possibly its contract operators to potential civil and 

criminal penalties.  Secondly, in addition to exposure to potential civil and criminal penalties, 

continued VRE operations after the deadline may have implications for our liability insurance and 

expose VRE and our host railroads (CSX and NSR) to added liability.  The potential for increased 



2 
 

and uninsured liability may deter the Transportation Commissions from continued operations and, 

as indicated in the attached September 10, 2015 letter from CSXT’s Assistant Vice President for 

Passenger Operations to the VRE Chief Executive Officer, could result in our host railroads 

refusing to permit VRE service to continue. 

If the PTC deadline is not extended by November 1, 2015, VRE will begin to prepare plans to 

indefinitely cease all VRE commuter rail service beginning January 1, 2016. If VRE were to cease 

operations for even a single day, it would create great disruption to the lives of our passengers, 

further deteriorate traffic congestion on the I-95 and I-66 corridors into Washington D.C., and 

force thousands of commuters from one of the safest modes of travel, commuter rail, to one of the 

least safe, driving.  Further, it could cause a succession of events that would seriously undermine 

the progress VRE has achieved over the years and substantially erode the region’s already 

overcapacity transportation network.  Since VRE depends upon fare revenue from the passengers 

to pay for 50 percent of its operating costs, the loss of passenger revenue would require VRE to 

spend its reserves to retain its train operations contractor for the short term. This, in turn, would 

drain the capital reserve set-aside to meet future capital needs and eventually cause VRE to fall 

below the floor set for operating reserves. If VRE was shut down for an extended period, it could 

jeopardize ridership gains VRE has achieved and, in a worst case scenario, VRE’s train operations 

contractor could terminate its contract because of the shutdown necessitating reprocurement of 

these services by VRE.  This restart process could take up to a year. 

Finally, VRE is a component of the National Capital Area Evacuation plans and any service 

disruption would negate VRE as an evacuation option. 

We very much appreciate your leadership on this issue and will continue to work with members 

of the U.S. House of Representatives, including the Virginia delegation, to secure a PTC extension 

as soon as possible.  Please contact me if I can be of any assistance to you. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Richard A. Dalton 

Deputy CEO/Chief Operating Officer 

 

Enclosure(s) 
 
cc: PRTC and NVTC 

VRE Operations Board Members 

 Kelley Coyner, NVTC 

 Eric Marx, PRTC 
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500 Water Street – J315 
Jacksonville, Florida  32202 

Office (904) 359-3568 
Fax (904) 359-1373 

 
Jay Westbrook 
Assistant Vice President – Passenger Operations 

 
September 10, 2015 

 
Doug Allen 
Chief Executive Officer 
Virginia Railway Express 
1500 King Street, Suite 202 
Alexandria, VA 22314 
 
RE: PTC update 
 
Dear Mr. Allen: 
 
CSX and other Class I freight railroads, commuter railroads and Amtrak are required by the 
Railroad Safety Improvement Act of 2008 to deploy Positive Train Control (PTC) systems by 
December 31, 2015. The system is required on any tracks that are used for regular passenger 
service and certain tracks that are used to transport toxic by inhalation (TIH) chemicals. 
 
As we have told Congress and our regulators for several years, CSX cannot meet the current 
deadline due to challenges we’ve encountered in technology development, limited supplier 
capacity, and construction delays associated with federal reviews of PTC implementations, 
among others. Nonetheless, we continue to work diligently to safely implement PTC as quickly 
as possible.  To this end, CSX recently began the first live operation of PTC on revenue trains on 
its first subdivision.  However, significant work remains to install and implement PTC on the 
approximately 15,000 track miles where PTC is required.  A seamless and safe deployment is 
imperative to maintain rail fluidity and prevent adverse impacts to customers, employees, 
passengers, and the communities where we operate.  
 
We have advocated before Congress for a reasonable extension of the December 31 deadline to 
allow sufficient time for technology deployment and testing. As part of that work, CSX 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Michael Ward recently detailed the potential implications 
of CSX’s inability to meet the year-end 2015 deadline in a letter to U.S. Senator John Thune of 
South Dakota, who chairs the Senate Commerce, Science and Transportation Committee. A copy 
of that letter is attached.  
 
The letter contains important information about potential actions CSX may need to take if the 
deadline is not extended. CSX is committed to balancing the safe operation of our network, 
adherence to federal laws and regulations, and commitments to our customers and passengers 
who rely on our network.  Regrettably, the spectrum of actions we are considering could include 
cessation of shipments of TIH chemicals and of passenger operations over CSX if Congress does 
not act. We encourage you to review the letter to enhance your understanding of the 
consequences of a failure by Congress to extend the current PTC deadline.  We appreciate those 
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of you who have already shared concerns with your representatives in Congress. If you have not 
yet, you may wish to share this letter and any concerns you have with your representatives in 
Congress, to encourage them to support passage of an extension.  
 
Thank you for your consideration and your business. We will continue to inform you about 
developments on this important issue. Please don’t hesitate to contact me if you have any 
questions. 
 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
 

 
 
 
Jay Westbrook 
Assistant Vice President – Passenger Operations 
 
 
 
 
cc: Rich Dalton, VRE 
  
 












